



Exploring the role of four Kazald paralogs in Axolotl limb regeneration

Citation

Shrestha, Manisha. 2024. Exploring the role of four Kazald paralogs in Axolotl limb regeneration. Master's thesis, Harvard University Division of Continuing Education.

Permanent link

https://nrs.harvard.edu/URN-3:HUL.INSTREPOS:37378554

Terms of Use

This article was downloaded from Harvard University's DASH repository, and is made available under the terms and conditions applicable to Other Posted Material, as set forth at http://nrs.harvard.edu/urn-3:HUL.InstRepos:dash.current.terms-of-use#LAA

Share Your Story

The Harvard community has made this article openly available. Please share how this access benefits you. <u>Submit a story</u>.

Accessibility

Exploring the role of four Kazald paralogs in Axolotl limb regeneration

Manisha Shrestha

A Thesis in the Field of Biology

for the Degree of Master of Liberal Arts in Extension Studies

Harvard University

May 2024

Copyright 2024 Manisha Shrestha

Abstract

This study aimed to establish the foundation for understanding a broader inquiry into whether other Kazald paralogs function as compensatory mechanisms for the *Kazald2* gene, recognized for its upregulated in blastema and potential critical role in the regeneration process (Bryant et al., 2017). *Kazald2* morpholino morphants exhibited a noticeable delay in the regeneration process; however, researchers observed that knocking out the *Kazald2* gene resulted in regeneration comparatively normal regeneration, suggesting the hypothesis of Gene Compensation among the Kazald paralogs. Gene compensation proposes that the other members of the Kazald paralogs may step in to fulfill the functions of *Kazald2* when it is absent, thereby facilitating the regeneration process to proceed without significant impairment.

The CRISPR-Cas9 system was employed to edit the genome of Kazald paralogs in axolotl embryos by inducing Double-Stranded Breaks. Gel electrophoresis analysis confirmed successful targeting of gene sequences, as evidenced by the presence of two distinct bands upon T7 digestion. This promising outcome suggests the feasibility of generating valuable Kazald mutants for Genetic Compensation research. However, it is important to acknowledge the potential challenge of mosaicism associated with CRISPR. Furthermore, while the Hybridization Chain Reaction experiment successfully executed the protocol, unfortunately, the newly designed probes did not yield the anticipated. This underscores the necessity for meticulous optimization of experimental factors such as probe concentration, hybridization conditions, and detection methods. Addressing these challenges is pivotal to enhancing the robustness and reliability of the experimental approach for future research applications.

Acknowledgments

I want to express my deepest gratitude to Dr. Jessica Whited for allowing me to work in her lab facilitating the academic environment necessary for conducting research and authoring this thesis. I am also immensely thankful to my thesis director, Dr. Benjamin Tajer, for his unwavering support, invaluable guidance, and continuous encouragement throughout the entire process of completing this thesis. His expertise, insights, and constructive feedback have been instrumental in shaping the direction and content of this work.

My special thanks go to both present and past members of the Whited lab: Aaron Savage, Noah Lopez, Duygu Payzin, Hani Singer, Maddy Kid, Nathan Souchet, Burcu Erdogan, and Sangwon Min. Their invaluable assistance with my experiments while also helping me understand concepts is greatly appreciated. I also want to extend my appreciation to a member of the animal room- Kelly Dooling for consistently keeping me informed about the status of the animals I worked with. I appreciate all of them for their camaraderie, stimulating discussions, and moral support throughout this journey.

I would also like to thank my entire academic team Trudi Goldberg, Dr. James Morris, Joan Short, and Gail Dourian for their collective expertise and unwavering support whose contribution has been instrumental in the successful completion of this paper as well.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgmentsv
Chapter I. Introduction1
Regeneration1
Why Investigate Limb Regeneration?
Animal Model4
Axolotl Regeneration
Blastema7
Cell Differentiation Gateway to Regeneration8
Upregulated Gene in Blastema – <i>Kazald2</i> 11
Kazald Gene Family14
Gene Robustness16
Genetic Compensation16
Kazald118
Hypothesis18
Research Scope19
Scope 119
Scope 2
Chapter II. Research Methods
Research Methods in Experiment 121
Guide RNA and T7 Primer Design
CRISPR/Cas924

Injections
Polymerase Chain Reaction27
DNA Purification27
T7 Endonuclease Digestion
Research Methods in Experiment 2
Hybridization Chain reaction
Chapter III. Results
In-vivo injection results
HCR result
Statistics and reproducibility45
Chapter IV. Discussion
Study Limitations
CRISPR experiment
HCR experiment50
Future research directions
References

List of Figures

Figure 1: Axolotl limb blastema development	6
Figure 2: Stem Cell Differentiation	9
Figure 3: Stem Cell Vs Progenitor Cell	10
Figure 4: <i>Kazald2</i> is necessary for blastema regeneration	12
Figure 5: Extended misexpression of <i>Kazald2</i> results	13
Figure 6. gRNA Primer Test PCR Results	32
Figure 7. Gel results Before T7 Digestion with Controls	34
Figure 8: PCR result of T7 Digestion	35
Figure 9: <i>Kazald</i> 4 T7 Digestion with gRNA	37
Figure 10: Kazald1 HCR Composite Imaging (Blastema 21 dpa)	38
Figure 11: Kazald3 HCR Composite Imaging (Blastema 21 dpa)	39
Figure 12: Kazald4 HCR Composite Imaging (Blastema 21 dpa)	40
Figure 13: <i>Kazald2</i> control	41
Figure 14: <i>Kazald1</i> image with no hairpin	42
Figure 15: <i>Kazald3</i> image with no hairpin	43
Figure 16: <i>Kazald4</i> image with no hairpin	44

List of Tables

Table 1. Kazald Ortholog Vs Paralog	15
Table 2. Sequence of gRNA primers.	23
Table 3 . Sequence of gRNA.	23
Table 4. Targeted loci.	25
Table 5 . Master Mix table for PCR Post-DNA Purification	28
Table 6. Function of HCR probes.	30
Table 7. Color Channel for the HCR Probes:	31

Chapter I.

Introduction

All living organisms have limited capability to regenerate. The human body has an astounding ability to heal itself, but this marvelous feature has its limits. Humans can regenerate the liver, and we can heal cuts and wounds, but our ability to regrow entire organs or limbs is extremely limited. The enduring story of Prometheus's liver regeneration following its consumption by an eagle serves as a testament to humanity's longstanding fascination with the concept of regeneration. It would be extraordinary if humans had the same extensive regenerative capabilities as animals such as lizards, axolotl, zebrafish, etc. Scientists are studying these animals to better understand the mechanisms involved in regeneration and to explore potential ways to enhance the human body's regenerative capabilities.

Regeneration

The process of regeneration is complex, involving multiple genetic and cellular mechanisms that we do not currently fully understand. Using research model organisms such as zebrafish, planaria, newts, axolotl, and mice, and beyond, scientists have found molecular regulators involved in these regenerative processes (Chen and Poss, 2017, James et. al, 2004, Bryant et al., 2017). While some regenerative genes and signaling pathways have been identified, much more research is needed to fully comprehend these processes and develop effective regenerative therapies for humans (James et. al, 2004, Bryant et al., 2019).

The increasing knowledge of stem cells, and the advent of biomedical engineering tools such as clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR), and genome sequencing have recently advanced the field of regenerative biology. The primary method for studying regeneration involves surgically amputating specific body parts in an animal model and observing their subsequent growth. In some species, body parts can be completely regenerated with apparent perfection, while in others, regenerated body parts do not fully recapitulate key aspects of the original structure. For example, salamanders stand out for their exceptional ability to fully regenerate lost limbs throughout their lifespan. In contrast, frogs display limited limb regeneration, with tadpoles exhibiting robust regeneration of immature limbs that mature into adult limbs, while adult frogs generally lack substantial regenerative capacity. Mice and humans have restricted regenerative abilities, primarily limited to digit tip regeneration (Wang et. al, 2020).

After employing amputation techniques to elucidate the mechanisms of regeneration in various animal models, researchers recognized the necessity for more refined methodologies to dissect the intricate genetic underpinnings of this process. Conventional approaches, while informative, often lacked the precision required to selectively manipulate individual genes implicated in regeneration. This limitation prompted the adoption of advanced gene-editing technologies, prominently CRISPR-Cas9.

Leveraging the unparalleled precision of CRISPR-Cas9, researchers gained the capability to precisely target and modify specific genes of interest. CRISPR has been used to control any specific gene's activity by making changes to the Cas-9 protein,

allowing researchers to turn the gene on or off as needed (Jiang and Doudna, 2017). They also found that using this technique was highly effective in knocking out genes with fewer harmful side effects on the cells or the animal model compared to conventional gene-editing methods (Fei et al., 2014). This breakthrough not only facilitated the elucidation of the genetic pathways governing regeneration but also provided insights into the regulatory networks orchestrating tissue repair and regrowth. It is important to note, however, that this research solely uses the mutation capabilities of CRISPR.

Why Investigate Limb Regeneration?

Limb amputation is a common occurrence, currently totaling over one million globally per year, translating to approximately one occurrence every 30 seconds (Access Prosthetics, 2019). At present, 2.1 million people in the United States are coping with limb loss, with this number projected to double by 2050, with an anticipated daily rate of 300-500 amputations (Access Prosthetics, 2019). Although sophisticated prosthetics can vastly improve a patient's quality of life, the ability to regrow amputated limbs would be even better. Regenerative medicine's goal has been to enhance the human body's natural healing ability and utilize innovative treatments and methodologies, such as stem cell therapy and tissue engineering, aimed at repairing, regenerating, or substituting damaged tissues and organs within the body.

Animal species, such as the axolotl, can regenerate their limbs naturally. Researchers are investigating these animals due to the similarities in limb structures they share with human legs. The goal of these studies is to understand the molecular and cellular mechanisms involved in limb regeneration and to develop new therapies for humans. Currently, there are no approved medicines or therapies for limb regeneration in humans. So, learning more about how axolotls regrow body parts could help improve how we treat injuries and diseases in people through regenerative medicine.

Animal Model

A prime animal model for regeneration and the model used in this research is the axolotl, *Ambystoma mexicanum*, Mexican salamander. Axolotls are an excellent research model for studying limb regeneration not only because of their superpower of regenerating complex body structures such as limbs, heart, and other organs but also because they share homologous structures with human legs making them desirable for regeneration studies in vertebrates (Voss, 2021). Despite this, both human and axolotl legs trace their origins back to a shared ancestor. Invertebrate models, in contrast, have a wide variety of limb structures that are different from those of vertebrates, diminishing their suitability as regenerative models for limb regeneration studies.

Despite their large physical size compared to other animal models such as mice, and. zebrafish, axolotls are easily maintained in laboratory settings; However, their growth and sexual maturation is slower than other animals. Their sexual maturity time while still almost one year—is less than other salamanders, making them an ideal model for experimental studies, among salamanders. Axolotl eggs are large enough that they are easy to manipulate and observe which makes them well-suited for experiments that involve manipulating embryos or studying early development.

The axolotl has a large genome of ~32Gb whose first-pass full genome sequence has been published and partially annotated (Keinath et al., 2017). The axolotl is the first salamander to have its entire genome sequenced (Schloissnig et al., 2021). This has

allowed researchers to identify genes and regulatory elements involved in regeneration (Tanaka et al., 2018). However, despite the sequencing and assembly of the axolotl genome, their genome remains poorly annotated, and repetitive sequences make some scaffolds difficult to place, making it difficult to study their large-scale genome structure and function. Although its fragmented genome presents a formidable barrier to genetic analysis, the extensive history of axolotl research available can provide a solid foundation for ongoing studies of regeneration and tissue repair. As a result, continuous endeavors are underway within the scientific community to improve the quality of the genome assembly, aiming to deepen our comprehension of the genetic mechanisms underlying regeneration in axolotls (Smith et al., 2019).

Axolotls have been extensively studied in laboratories for over two centuries, and as a result, we have gained a wealth of knowledge about their remarkable regenerative capabilities. By studying how axolotls regenerate their limbs, researchers can gain important insights into how similar processes might be induced in humans to promote tissue repair and regeneration of those who have lost limbs due to injury or disease.

Axolotl Regeneration

Researchers initially relied on macroscopic observations characterized by anatomy and morphology to study regeneration in amphibians (Stocum, 2017). Scientists were performing experimental manipulations by cutting amphibian legs long before microscopic techniques such as histology- the study of tissues by sectioning, staining, and analyzing, existed. As histological techniques improved, scientists were able to further examine the tissue architecture and cellular morphology involved in regeneration.



Figure 1: Axolotl limb blastema development

Figure 1(McCusker et al., 2015).above helps us best understand the phenotypic process of how an axolotl limb regenerates after amputation. The left side shows the intact limb while the consecutive picture to the right shows the various stages of regeneration over time, including blastema formation (McCusker et al., 2015). Axolotl regeneration follows distal transformation meaning that they regrow only those parts of the body located beyond the site of amputation (Stocum, 2017). As time goes on, blastema cells begin to differentiate into specialized cells with various parts of the new limb starting to form gradually, starting from the bottom, and moving upwards (McCusker et al., 2015).

In an axolotl, when the limb is amputated, a remarkable sequence of events unfolds. First, a blood clot forms at the cut site to seal the wound and prevent excessive bleeding. Following this, the skin begins to grow over the wound, providing a protective barrier against pathogens. Concurrently, a body-wide proliferation response is triggered promoting the rapid proliferation of cells necessary for tissue regeneration (Payzin-Dorgu et. al, 2023)Subsequently. cells migrate to the wound site from surrounding tissues and undergo dedifferentiation, preparing them for their role in regeneration. This molecular progression is still a puzzle to the scientific community. The next step is where the regeneration process diverges between axolotl and mammals. Cells surrounding the site of injury migrate to the cut site where they multiply eventually forming a visible bud forming a blastema which resembles the axolotl limb bud structurally. While mammals also form blastema-like structures, unlike many injuries that result in complete regeneration in the axolotl, this usually leads to scar formation (Duygu et al., 2018). The blastema is a structure composed of multi-potent cells transiently formed at the site of injury which eventually gives rise to the major mesenchymal structures of the limb such as bones, muscles, and connective tissues (Seifert and Muneoka, 2017). Many diverse organisms including regenerative animal models such as planaria, flatworms, zebrafish, and salamanders like axolotl, utilize the blastema for regeneration. Yet, it remains uncertain whether these blastemas share a common ancestral history (Tajer, B. et. al, 2023)

Blastema

A blastema is an accumulation of cells in the regenerating limb bud that is capable of regrowth and differentiating into different organs and body parts. Extensive research over the years has provided a thorough understanding of the blastema's role in regeneration (Flowers et. al, 2014, McCusker et al., 2015, Stocum, 2017) Blastema consists of cells with varying lineage with limited differentiation potency (Monaghen and Madden, 2012).

Research has shown that initially, the accumulated blastema initially lacks blood vessels and innervation (Stocum, 2017). However, as nascent blastema cells proliferate, and signals from the peripheral nervous system promote blastemal growth, the blastema undergoes revascularization and reinnervation; this is essential for the continued growth and differentiation of the blastema into the various structures of the regenerated limb (Farkas and Monaghan, 2017).

Cell Differentiation

Gateway to Regeneration

Regeneration in blastema initiates as cells go through a process of differentiation and dedifferentiation. Undifferentiated or less specialized cells become increasingly specialized and acquire specific functions, whereas specialized cells that were already in the body revert from specialized cells to a primitive state to help heal the injury (Stocum., 2019). Undifferentiated stem cells serve as the linchpin in the complex process of regeneration by coordinating the renewal and repair of injured tissues. Their remarkable capability to transform into different cell types is fundamental to the restoration of intricate structures in organisms.

Stem cells are plentiful in embryos and can also be found in adult tissues (Zakrzewski et al., 2019). Stem cells come in various types. Totipotent cells possess the greatest potential for differentiation capable of dividing and transforming into cells for the entire organism, including both embryonic and extra-embryonic structures like the placenta (Zakrzewski et al., 2019). The zygote, which is formed when a sperm fertilizes an egg, is a totipotent cell. In mammals, these cells continue to divide eventually forming the three pluripotent early germ layers- endoderm, mesoderm, and ectoderm, which are responsible for giving rise to the entire organism and its structures. (Zakrzewski et al., 2019). Pluripotent cells have less differentiation potential compared to totipotent cells; as they undergo further differentiation, they transition into cells with reduced potency such as multi, oligo, or unipotent cells. Hematopoietic stem cells are multipotent cells capable of developing into several types of blood cells. However, once these cells undergo

differentiation, they turn oligopotent, meaning that their differentiation is limited to specific cell lineage (Zakrzewski et al., 2019).

Oligopotent stem cells can differentiate into several cell types only within a particular tissue or organ, but not all. They exhibit a more restricted differentiation potential compared to pluripotent and multipotent stem cells. For instance, myeloid cells are oligopotent within the hematopoietic cell system and can differentiate into a few related blood cell types in the body but not all (Zakrzewski et al., 2019). Lastly, unipotent stem cells can only differentiate into one single cell type. For example, satellite cells can differentiate into muscle cells exclusively without giving rise to other cell types (Zakrzewski et al., 2019).



Figure 2: Stem Cell Differentiation

Cellular Specialization Process of Stem Cells (Figure 1, Ossanna R et. al, 2023)

Progenitor cells are partially differentiated cells that have the potential to differentiate into a specific cell type (ClinMedJournals, 2023). They are more committed to a particular cell fate than stem cells and have a more limited ability to self-renew. Progenitor cells are sometimes referred to as intermediate cells since they sit between stem cells and fully differentiated cells (ClinMedJournals, 2023).

Progenitor cells are found in various tissues throughout the body and engage in tissue repair and maintenance. These cells are particularly valuable in the regeneration process as they can replace damaged cells with functional equivalents, aiding tissue repair. By transplanting or stimulating progenitor cells at tissue sites, we can seek to promote tissue regeneration and promote repair.



Figure 3: Stem Cell Vs Progenitor Cell



Upregulated Gene in Blastema – Kazald2

The pivotal role of blastema in regeneration has spurred numerous studies aimed at identifying its transcriptome, encompassing all RNA transcripts expressed within blastema cells. One study sequenced the transcriptome of several axolotl tissues including blastema combined with *de novo* transcriptome assembly and computational analysis, without the need for a reference genome (Bryant et al., 2017). They studied the expression analyses of RNA transcripts and genes upregulated in the blastema which resulted in the identification of the gene – *Kazald2* as the most blastema-enriched transcript. *Kazald2* is upregulated >10-fold compared to all the other tissues that were analyzed as shown in Figure 4 below (Bryant et al., 2017).

Further investigation using *in situ hybridization*, also shown in Figure 4 below, throughout regeneration showed that *Kazald2* is upregulated 10 days post-amputation (DPA) but is not detected in an intact limb or a developing limb bud (Bryant et al., 2017). This suggests that *Kazald2* plays a role in axolotl limb regeneration, specifically in blastema.



Figure 4: *Kazald2* is necessary for blastema regeneration.

Comparative tissue examination identified Kazald2 as the highly upregulated blastemaenriched transcript in the axolotl limb (Figure 5A, Bryant et al., 2017) The Kazald2 gene referenced in Bryant et al.'s paper has since been determined by additional phylogenetic analyses to be Kazald2, distinct from the Kazald1 ortholog shared with mammals.

They found that *Kazald2* expression increases shortly after amputation, is maintained during the blastema, and dramatically downregulated near the end of regeneration (Bryant et.al., 2017). They used morpholinos to target the *Kazald2* gene; morpholinos are a synthetic molecule used to temporarily block the gene expression by binding to complementary RNA sequences, enabling the study of gene function and developmental process in axolotl. This resulted in delayed limb regeneration and a notably smaller blastema, suggesting the essential role of the *Kazald2* gene in regeneration (Bryant et.al., 2017). Conversely, constitutive expression of *Kazald2* within the blastema led to the regeneration of deformed limbs, suggesting that improper regulation of *Kazald2* expression has negative consequences for limb regeneration suggesting the importance of the temporal (when) and spatial (where) regulation of *Kazald2* expression during limb as seen in Figure 5 below (Bryant et.al., 2017).



Figure 5: Extended misexpression of Kazald2 results

Extended misexpression of Kazald2 resulted in significant regenerative defects when compared to control conditions (Bryant et.al., 2017, Supplemental data,S6B). The Kazald2 gene referenced in Bryant et al.'s paper has since been determined by additional phylogenetic analyses to be Kazald2, distinct from the Kazald1 ortholog shared with mammals.

Driven by the discovery of *Kazald2*'s importance in normal regeneration and to complement the morpholino experiment, researchers also targeted *Kazald2* with CRISPR. However, they were dismayed to discover that they did not observe regenerative issues in the gene-edited mosaic animals which they attributed to the low editing efficiency they encountered (Bryant et.al., 2017). This phenotypic discrepancy between morphants created using morpholinos and mutants that were knocked out has been observed in several other comparative studies with other animal models and seems to be the case with

axolotls as well (Peng, 2019). Research suggests that in some cases, employing morpholino knockdown methods can yield more pronounced effects than loss-of-function mutations, (Rossi et al., 2015). This study noted that related genes were upregulated in mutants while morphants did not exhibit this change (Rossi et al., 2015). Considering this finding, through extensive analyses of publicly available data, scientists at the Whited Lab uncovered that Kazald has three closely related genes that might be upregulated by this mechanism (Tajer, B., Unpublished, The Whited Lab).

Kazald Gene Family

Members of the Kazald gene family are characterized by the presence of multiple domains in their proteins –the Kazal-type serine protease inhibitor domain in its central region that acts as an inhibitor of serine protease, an enzyme that cleaves peptide bonds in proteins, Insulin-like-Growth-Factor-Binding- Protein (IGFBP) in its N-terminal, and an immunoglobin-like domain in its C-terminal (NIH, 2023). Domains within proteins serve as structural and functional units, folding to fulfill a diverse range of roles crucial for the proper functioning of cells and organisms (Aziz et. al, 2021). These domains can be useful in elucidating the functions of Kazald family proteins.

*Kazald*1, *Kazald*2, *Kazald*3, and *Kazald*4 are paralogs of each other within the Kazald gene family. The axolotl *Kazald1* gene is orthologous to human *Kazald1*. The study of orthologs and paralogs assumes significance as it offers valuable insights into the evolutionary lineage and functional diversity of genes. Paralogs are genes that arise from gene duplication events and have a shared ancestral origin. While they initially possess similar sequences and functions, they have diverged over time due to mutation

and other evolutionary forces. Ortholog genes, on the other hand, are genes that diverged after the speciation event while retaining a similar function to their ancestral gene.

Table 1. Kazald Ortholog Vs Paralog

Species	Kazald1	Kazald2	Kazald3	Kazald4
Human	Orthologs	Not Present	Not Present	Not Present
Axolotl	Orthologs	Paralog	Paralog	Paralog

Human and Axolotl Kazald1 are orthologs while Kazald2, Kazald3 and Kazald4 are paralogs of Axolotl Kazald1 which are not present in humans.

Gene duplication is a fundamental process in molecular evolution, and has significant implications for organisms' genetic makeup, phenotype, and evolutionary trajectory (Ohno, 1967). One of the immediate consequences of gene duplication is the creation of redundant copies of the original gene, safeguarding against deleterious mutations, and ensuring that at least one functional copy of the gene remains in the genome (Wagner,1996). Over time, duplicated genes can accumulate mutations independently, leading to the development of new functions, neofunctionalization, or the splitting of original functions between the copies known as sub-functionalization (Rastogi and Liberles, 2005, Force et.al, 1999).

Duplicated genes may undergo specialization, where each copy becomes optimized for specific functions or conditions contributing to the emergence of novel traits or diversification of species (James and Tawfik, 2003). Additionally, gene duplication can increase gene dosage altering cellular processes and traits, with effects that vary based on the genes' function (Hartwell, 2021). Gene dosage indicates the number of copies of a specific gene housed within an organism's genetic material. (Hartwell, 2021) Gene dosage effects can have both beneficial and deleterious consequences, depending on the specific gene and its role in the organism. Finally, by providing redundancy in vital pathways, gene duplication enhances genetic robustness, shielding organisms from genetic and environmental stressors.

Gene Robustness

Genetic Robustness refers to an organism's capability to maintain a consistent physical appearance despite genetic variations (El-Brolosy and Stainier, 2017). This trait is measurable and may vary depending on the phyla or organism (Boukhibar and Barkoulas, 2016). Redundant genes, often resulting from gene duplication play a key role in Genetic Robustness (Wagner, 1996; reviewed in Tautz, 1992). Another aspect of robustness stems from precisely regulated cell networks that control metabolism, signaling, and transcription (Davidson and Levin, 2005). Unfortunately, this robustness poses challenges for genetic research studies as it can obscure the expected outcome in mutants, particularly in animal models such as axolotl, which have large genomes with many gaps and repetitive sequences making it challenging to identify the precise function of the original gene as related genes may compensate for the change, referred to hereafter as genetic compensation (El Brolosy et al., 2017).

Genetic Compensation

Genetic compensation is a biological phenomenon where organisms adjust their gene expression to mitigate the effects of genetic mutations (Rossi et. al, 2015). Genetic compensation can enable an organism to maintain cellular or organismal homeostasis despite the presence of genetic mutations. It allows organisms to tolerate genetic variation and adapt to changes in their genetic makeup. Genetic compensation can be triggered when a gene is knocked out or mutated, leading to the loss of function of a specific protein, often resulting in a mutant phenotype, although it's not always the case (Rossi et. al, 2015) Recent findings suggest that the decay of mutant mRNA is essential for triggering Genetic Compensation, highlighting the intricate interplay between mRNA degradation mechanisms, particularly nonsense-mediated decay, and the cellular response to genetic alterations (El Brolosy et al., 2019).

Nonsense Mediated Decay (NMD) is a mechanism that cells utilize to identify and break down mRNA molecules containing premature stop codons (nonsense mutations), thus preventing the production of truncated and potentially harmful proteins (Tan et. al, 2022). In this research, scientists genetically deactivated key components of the NMD pathway and observed that inhibiting NMD resulted in a reduction in the decay of mutant mRNA (El Brolosy et al., 2019). This disruption in NMD led to the loss of genetic compensation, indicating the active involvement of NMD in cellular adaptation to genetic mutations. Furthermore, the researchers demonstrated that inducing mRNA degradation using uncapped RNAs, susceptible to rapid cellular degradation, could trigger genetic compensation (El Brolosy et al., 2019). This underscores the pivotal role of mRNA degradation pathways, such as NMD, in facilitating cellular adaptation to genetic changes.

This study also suggests that mutant alleles failing to produce mutant mRNA, either due to transcriptional blockade or efficient decay, exhibit more severe phenotypes compared to alleles where mutant mRNA is degraded (El Brolosy et al., 2019). Transcriptome analysis of alleles with degraded mutant mRNA revealed an upregulation

of genes matching the sequence of the mutant mRNA (El Brolosy et al., 2019). These findings prompted us to further investigate the role of Kazald genes in the axolotl, aiming to determine if they provide genetic compensation for *Kazald2*.

Kazald1

In humans, only the *Kazald1* gene exists, hereafter used as *hKazald1*, which is orthologous to axolotl *Kazald1*. By comparing the gene sequences and the expression patterns of these two genes we can try to understand the function of *Kazald1*. A research study investigated the expression pattern of the *hKazald1* and found it to be involved in the developing bones and teeth of mice, and its association with matrix mineralization (James et al., 2004). Research conducted at the Whited Lab has further supported this assumption by revealing similar gene expression patterns of *Kazald1*, particularly upregulated in the cartilage (Payzin et. al, unpublished). We have limited knowledge about the function of any Kazald family member, although little research on humans and mouse Kazald genes suggests its role in bone biology. Since axolotl *Kazald1* is also present in both cartilage and bone, it likely performed similar functions. Additionally, on the molecular level, *Kazald2*, *Kazald3*, and *Kazald4* may operate through a mechanism like the better-understood *Kazald1*.

Hypothesis

Building on the insights gained from the understanding of genetic compensation and paralog functions we have hypothesized that these other Kazald genes – *Kazald1*, *Kazald3*, and *Kazald4* may be genetically compensating for the loss of function of the *Kazald2* gene, providing a plausible explanation for the observed phenotypic differences between morpholino Mutant and loss-of-function mutant. To investigate this hypothesis, I sought to test out two experiments; one is to knock out (KO) all Kazald paralogs, either individually or in combination utilizing CRISPR technology; the second experiment involves a Hybridization Chain reaction imagining of RNA in KO mutant.

Research Scope

Scope 1

The Whited Laboratory previously established a KO *Kazald*2 mutant axolotl. Thus, one of the primary objectives of my research was to systematically generate mutants for *Kazald*3, *Kazald*4, and *Kazald*1. This expansion of genetically modified organisms in the laboratory setting aims to enable comprehensive investigations. The goal is to combine these mutants with *Kazald*2 mutant to assess if having multiple mutant Kazald paralogs would result in a more severe phenotype. To achieve this, we aimed to disrupt or delete the target genes, *Kazald*3, *Kazald*4, and *Kazald*1 utilizing the CRISPR technology.

The resulting KO Kazald mutant can be further utilized to advance the study of genetic compensation. Our hypothesis suggests that mutants with only one Kazald gene KO should exhibit similar phenotypical outcomes as those of normal regeneration. However, we anticipate that all four Kazald KO mutants exhibit abnormal to no regeneration. Scope 2

In my investigation of Kazald Genetic Compensation, my second research focus involves examining the RNA expression levels of Kazald gene paralogs within the blastema. This investigation employs the Hybridization Chain reaction (HCR) technique, a sophisticated method that provides an unparalleled approach to detecting and visualizing specific RNA sequences with remarkable sensitivity and specificity. HCR enables the direct visualization of target RNA sequences within intact cells and tissues, offering a powerful means to explore the intricate details of genetic expression.

In employing HCR, our objective was to visualize the upregulation of RNA from the other three Kazald genes in mutant animals, aiding in investigating our hypothesis of genetic compensation. Significant upregulation of RNA from the other three Kazald genes in mutant animals compared to wild-type control suggests that the organism may compensate for the loss of function of one Kazald gene, *Kazald2* in this scenario, by increasing the expression of its paralogs. This compensatory mechanism indicates that the organism can maintain normal function despite genetic perturbations, supporting the concept of genetic compensation. Conversely, if there is no significant difference in RNA expression levels, it suggests that there is no compensatory response to loss of function, potentially refuting the hypothesis of genetic compensation.

Chapter II.

Research Methods

This study involved a total of forty (40) WT animals obtained from The Whited Lab. The axolotls used in this study were maintained by the rules of the Harvard Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). We ensured that all animals were treated ethically and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations governing the use of animal models in research. The axolotls utilized in this research study belonged to the white strain, also known as the *leucistic* strain, which we refer to as *Wild Type* (WT) hereafter. However, it is important to acknowledge that in research, WT may denote the most prevalent phenotype or genotype within a population under controlled laboratory conditions, rather than accurately reflecting the phenotype or genotype of the animals in their natural habitat.

No human subjects were involved in this research. The use of human subjects in research involving functional studies such as limb amputation is considered unethical as it could cause unnecessary harm or suffering to the subjects. Axolotls served as the primary animal model for all experiments conducted.

Research Methods in Experiment 1

To mutate the other three KAZALD paralogs- *Kazald1, Kazald3*, and *Kazald4*, I employed CRISPR/Cas9 technology for its gene-editing capability. This involved generating embryos with individual gene knockouts and simultaneously targeting all four genes for knock-out. Specifically designed guide RNA matching target gene directed the Cas9 enzyme to cleave DNA, initiating a repair mechanism that may result in insertions

or deletions within the targeted gene. (Lander E., 2016). Injecting axolotl embryos with a combination of guide RNAs and CRISPR-Cas9 enables us to introduce mutations in specific Kazald genes.

Guide RNA and T7 Primer Design

I designed guide RNAs (gRNAs) to target Kazald1, Kazald3, and Kazald4 individually using the software tools, CCTop, and Snapgene. Research has shown that efficient gene knockout critically depends on the design of the gRNA, as DNA cleavage efficiency varies among different gRNAs targeting the same locus in axolotl and other species (Fei et al., 2017). CCTop aids in finding the most efficient CRISPR/Cas9 target guide for the locus of interest. CCTop tool identifies and ranks all the potential sgRNA target sites in order of their off-target sites and predicted efficiency. The choice to use CCTop stems from the fact that it is the only gRNA design tool that can look for offtargets. However, its experimental validation for both gene inactivation and nonhomologous end-joining repair also aids in decision making (Stemmer. M. et al. 2017). Primer 3 is a widely known tool for designing PCR primers (Koressaar et. al, 1937-1938). Using this tool, I was able to find the best forward and reverse T7 primers for each guide. Excel macros were used to ascertain primers' amplification efficiency and to ensure their genomic locations on distinct chromosomes, mitigating the risk of potential off-target effects. The primers and gRNAs that we used for this experiment are:

Table 2. Sequence of gRNA primers.

Gene Name	Direction	Primer sequence
Kazald4	Forward Primer	5'-gccgccagaaaacacctatt- 3'
Kazald4	Reverse Primer	3'- cttcataagactggcgcacC-5'
Kazald3	Reverse Primer	5'- GGACTGAGATATGCGGGTCA-3'
Kazald3	Forward Primer	3'- Agtagtacacggccgaatgt-5'
Kazald1	Forward Primer	5'TGTCCCCACCCTACAACATC-3'
Kazald1	Reverse Primer	3'- acctgacctggagactttgg-5'

Table 3 . Sequence of gRNA.

Gene Name	gRNA sequence	

Kazald4	5'-GAAATGTGCGCGTCGTCCCC- 3'
Kazald3	5'- GGGACCAGTTCAACACGTCT -3'
Kazald1	5'- GCACGGACATGCTACTACCT-3'

CRISPR/Cas9

CRISPR, an acronym for Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats, is a genome editing system enabling precise DNA modification in living organisms, widely adopted in. scientific research. CRISPR is a naturally occurring bacterial mechanism used to destroy viral DNA present in bacteria by cutting the DNA at a specific point (Doudna and Charpentier, 2014). This was well-known since the early 2000s but with the advent and knowledge of the Cas9 enzyme, this mechanism has been adapted for use in laboratories to target and mutate DNA since 2013 (Lander E., 2016). Cas9 is an enzyme that can, with the aid of gRNA guiding it to the cut site, cut apart and unzip the double-stranded DNA.

Once CRISPR cleaves the DNA at the cut site, the cell's repair machinery typically engages in the natural DNA repair process. While this repair mechanism generally functions accurately, occasional errors may occur leading to the mutation that can disable the targeted gene, often through non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) (Zaboikin et al., 2017). NHEJ is an error-prone mechanism that can lead to insertions or deletions in the DNA sequence causing frameshift mutations and gene knockouts (Rodger and Mcvey, 2015). By introducing mutations that disable the gene of interest, the CRISPR system can be used to create loss-of-function mutations. Research has demonstrated that using purified Cas9 protein, rather than Cas9 mRNA, leads to the rapid formation of a gRNA-Cas9 ribonucleic protein (RNP) complex (Fei et al., 2017). This significantly enhances CRISPR/Cas9-mediated Knock-out and Knock-In in various model organisms. Therefore, in this research Cas-9 protein was employed for immediate activity post-injection.

CRISPR system in the context of this research consists of three components that are hybridized: endonuclease Cas9 protein, CRISPR RNA (crRNA), and Trans-activating CRISPR RNA (tracrRNA). crRNA is the portion of the gRNA that contains the sequence complementary to the target sequence while tracrRNA serves as a scaffold for Cas9 binding and is necessary for the interaction between cas9 and the crRNA.

I individually co-injected the designed gRNAs targeting the coding sequences in *Kazald1* exon3, *Kazald3* exon 2, and *Kazald4* exon 2 along with together with Cas9 protein, into single-cell stage axolotl eggs. Using a customized CRISPR system with guide RNAs tailored to match specific target genes, I employed CRISPR-Cas9 enzymes to precisely cut all the Kazald genes. It is important to acknowledge that the effectiveness of this method is dependent on several factors, including the targeting efficiency of the gRNAs towards the desired sequences and the injection process itself, which can introduce variability as some embryos may receive better injections than others.

Table 4. Targeted loci.

Kazald1 Exon3.

GACCACAGATCTTGTCCCCACCCTACAACATCTGGAATGTCACGGGGCAAGA TGTGATATTTGGCTGCGAGGTCTTCGCCTATCCAATGGCATCCATTGAGTGGA GGAAGGACG<mark>GCACGGACATGCTACTACCT</mark>GGGGATGATCCTCACATATCTGT TCAG

Kazald3 Exon 2,

CACCGGAAATTAAGATACCACCCC<mark>GGGACCAGTTCAACACGTCT</mark>GGACAGGA TGCCATCTTCTTGTGTGAAGTCGTGGCCTATCCCATGGCACAGGTGGAATGGC GGAAGAACAGACACAATGTTAGCCTGCCTGGGGATGACCCGCATATCTCAGT CCAG

Kazald4 Exon 2.

CTCCTGTTATATCTTTGCCGCCGAGAGAGATGCGCATAATTTTACCGGAAATGAC ATCATTTTTGGCTGTGAGGTGTCAGCCTATCCCATGCCCCACCTGGAATGGAA GAAGAAAGGGAACCACGTGTTTCTGCCC<mark>GGGGACGACGCGCACATTTC</mark>CGTT CAG Injections

The axolotl embryo begins as a single cell following fertilization of the egg. The initial round of cell division in an axolotl egg typically takes about six hours. Transgene integration is more probable during the single-cell- stage, as CRISPR is more likely to distribute across all the cells of the axolotl (Fei et al., 2017). As the embryo progresses to multiple cells, it becomes challenging to inject all cells effectively. Hence, we opted to inject the embryos with the Cas9 gRNA/protein complex during the single-cell stage We introduced Cas9 proteins into the single-cell stage axolotl embryos using microinjection to induce mutagenesis of our target genes.

The primary objective of this approach is to attain germline mutations. Not all injected embryos will yield successful mutations, and it is crucial not only to maximize the chances of obtaining viable mutants but also to ensure enough mutants reach adulthood for further analysis, necessitating the injection of a considerable number of embryos. Furthermore, to address the challenge of mosaic mutations in CRISPR F0 mutants, we can employ techniques such as genotyping or sequencing to discern and identify animals that have effectively integrated the desired mutations, which, unfortunately, we were unable to complete.

Each mating session can yield a considerable number of eggs, exceeding 100, providing a substantial pool of embryos for experimentation. Nevertheless, this research was limited by the sporadic timing of axolotl egg-laying. This constraint was compounded by variations in fecundity across mating pairs, with some exhibiting low egg production. Furthermore, the experimental protocol necessitated prompt embryo injection within the initial hours following egg deposition, a condition not consistently

feasible within the constraints of the available research hours. This is not an issue with other animal models such as mice and fish, since it is much easier to time the mating and control the age of the embryos of these animals, which is not the case with axolotl.

Polymerase Chain Reaction

The Polymerase Chain reaction (PCR) is used to amplify a specific segment of DNA rapidly and affordably. Research analyses often require a significant amount of DNA. PCR targets a minute portion of the axolotl's vast genome, amplifying this segment to provide an adequate amount of DNA for downstream analysis. PCR results helped us determine the most effective gRNA primers for targeting the Kazald genes. By analyzing the PCR outcomes of the Kazald genes in both *WT* embryos and lysed embryos, I could ascertain if the gRNA/Cas9 system effectively induced mutations at the intended site.

DNA Purification

I purified DNA from the injected embryos using DNEasy spin columns. DNA purification isolates edited DNA fragments by removing contaminants like cellular debris and proteins. This enhances downstream analyses accuracy and sensitivity, vital for detecting mutations. Once I obtained the purified DNA natant, I proceeded to utilize the PCR method to amplify the target regions using PCR Master Mix as shown in Table 5 below. I used the DNeasy 96 Spin Column Protocol from Qiagen for purification (DNeasy Blood & Tissue 2020).

1x		12x Master	15x Master	15x Master
(50uL)		Kazald4	Kazald3	Kazald1
31	H20	372	465	465
10	5x Buffer	120	150	150
1	10mM dNTPs	12	15	15
0.5	Phusion	6	7.5	7.5
	Polymerase			
2.5	Forward	30	37.5	37.5
2.5	Reverse	30	37.5	37.5
47.5	Into tube			
2.5	Template	30	37.5	37.5
50	Total volume	570	712.5	712.5

Table 5 . Master Mix table for PCR Post-DNA Purification

I further purified the PCR product to isolate and remove excess primers, nucleotides, and enzymes before proceeding with T7 digestion using AMPure XP beads, a magnetic bead-based method. This involved binding DNA fragments to the beads, separating them magnetically to remove contaminants, washing them with ethanol for further purification, and eluting the purified DNA. This method yields high-quality DNA suitable for downstream analyses/T7 Digest.

T7 Endonuclease Digestion

I used T7 Endonuclease- an enzyme derived from T7 bacteriophage, to confirm whether mutations have been induced in a target gene using the CRISPR-Cas9 system (New England Biolabs, 2024). This enzyme specifically recognizes and cleaves heteroduplex DNA structures, formed from mismatches or loops that arose during the repair process of DNA double-strand breaks via NHEJ. These structures produce smaller fragments that are detectable through Gel-electrophoresis. The appearance of smaller fragments indicates successful T7 Endonuclease I cleavage and the presence of mismatches at the target site (New England Biolabs, 2024). I performed T7 endonuclease I digestion on the DNA sample at 37°C for 15 min using 1 µl of T7 endonuclease I (T7E1; New England BioLabs). Before T7 Digestion, I also conducted T7 PCR to verify the quality of genomic DNA extracted from the embryo to ensure that enough intact DNA is available for the downstream T7 digestion process. We used un-injected embryos, other Kazald genes, and nuclease-free water as a control for T7 digestions. Un-injected embryos and other controls should remain unaltered by the T7 enzyme, exhibiting no multiple bands in the gel.

Research Methods in Experiment 2

Hybridization Chain reaction

Hybridization Chain reaction (HCR) is a highly sensitive and specific method that uses oligonucleotide probes to amplify RNA, revealing expression patterns within cells or tissues (Bi and Zhang, 2017). It is a form of *in-situ* hybridization that generates a fluorescent signal at the site of the target RNA facilitating visualization. The HCR process involves two stages: detection and amplification. It relies on a set of oligonucleotide probes meticulously designed to bind to precise regions of the target RNA. These probes are strategically equipped with an initiator molecule (i1) split between them. In the amplification stage, fluorescent hairpin molecules, H1, and H2, trigger polymer growth when bound to the initiator enabling background suppression. Amplification occurs only when the probe pairs specifically bind to their target RNA sequences, thereby colocalizing the full initiator and triggering amplification. Hairpins that are bound non-specifically are also unable to trigger amplification (Molecular Instruments, 2024).

The availability of heterozygous *Kazald2* mutant (*Kazald2 Het*) at the Whited lab provided an avenue for additional investigation into the Genetic Compensation mechanisms of *Kazald2* in blastema. The overarching objective of this research is to create a progeny with homozygous Kazald KO mutant and observe the phenotypical differences that arise with a focus on the regeneration of clipped limbs. Leveraging the *Kazald2* Het, HCR techniques we expected to discern potential overexpression of other Kazald genes in the *Kazald2 Het* enabling a comparative analysis of RNA expressions. However, to progress with this investigation, identifying effective HCR probes for the remaining Kazald paralogs proved to be a significant challenge, forming the secondary research aim of my research. It is noteworthy that the Whited Lab already possessed effective HCR probes designed for *Kazald2* which were used as a control probe along with *PRRX1* probes. We used a maximum of three probes for each HCR experiment.

Table 6. Function of HCR probes.

Kazald4	Target Gene
Kazald3	Target Gene
Kazald1	Target Gene
Kazald2	Control
PRRX1	Control

The results were visualized using fluorescence microscopy and FIJI, an image processing software, which allowed me to visualize fluorescence offering insights into the expression patterns of the Kazald RNA and other control genes used. This process would help detect if there is upregulation of other Kazald RNA present in the blastema of the regenerating limb of the Kazald mutant. Several HCR experiments were conducted, but the results presented here are from an experiment with the following specifics.

Color Channel Fluorescence Label Genes Kazald1 FITC Green Kazald3 Green FITC Kazald4 FITC Green PRRX1 TRITC Red Kazald2 Far Red Cys5 Nuclei DAPI Blue

Table 7. Color Channel for the HCR Probes:

This color-coded scheme allowed for the comparison and visualization of specific gene expressions providing a comprehensive view of the experiment's results in FIJI. The positive controls for *PRRX1* and *Kazald2* helped validate the specificity and reliability of the HCR experiment. In this instance, these controls played a crucial role in confirming that the probes did not yield the expected results.

As for tissue samples, samples were collected from axolotl limbs at various time points post-amputation (dpa), including 10 dpa, 13dpa, 14 dpa, 15 dpa, and 21 dpa available. However, due to the stump becoming visibly apparent only by 21 dpa, this time point was selected exclusively for the application of the HCR protocol.

Chapter III.

Results

This section presents the results of my study where we explored the CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing system and assessed a newly designed probe for Hybridization Chain Reaction targeting *Kazald2* paralogs.



In-vivo injection results

Figure 6. gRNA Primer Test PCR Results

The bands within the green circles were brighter compared to the other primers for each Kazald. They also have fewer bands of the wrong size compared to the other combinations which is why I chose to use those gRNA. The Whited Lab already had Kazald2 primers available which were also tested in this PCR.

Figure 6 above illustrates the assessment of different primers designed for the

gRNA, to identify the most effective primer for each gene. We sacrificed a few injected

embryos to determine which primers worked the best for each gene. The bands in Figure 5 represent multiple primer combinations for each Kazald gene that underwent amplification using the designed test primers. Although several options were available at the lab, which we tested as seen in Figure 6, we ultimately used the primer combo for *Kazald2* that the lab had previously deemed effective.

Notably, the bright bands observed correspond to successful primer binding, resulting in bands of the correct size, with a few bands of the wrong size. Conversely, off-target loci contribute to the presence of additional bands, exhibiting varying intensities, and resulting in a fainter appearance. To mitigate the occurrence of such nonspecific bands, we increased the PCR temperature to minimize instances of imperfect primer binding. After careful consideration, we decided to use the more prominent bands, corresponding to *Kazald*4 (89,92), *Kazald*3 (98, 97), and *Kazald*1 (104,107).



Figure 7. Gel results Before T7 Digestion with Controls

Gel results of the gRNA I chose to use along with controls- Un-injected embryos, water and samples of other injected Kazald genes.

Subsequently, Figure 7 above presents the outcomes testing the effectiveness of gRNA effectiveness, along with controls. The controls utilized for this experiment include embryos from other Kazald genes and un-injected (UI) embryos. UI embryos serve as a good control because they have not been exposed to the gRNA and CRISPR-Cas9 machinery, thus there should be no targeted editing occurring at the genomic level. Without the presence of the CRISPR-gRNA combo, there would be no specific targeting and cleavage of Kazald genes, resulting in the absence of bands in the PCR gel due to the lack of specific DNA fragments to amplify. Samples from other Kazald genes act as a good control because the CRISPR-gRNA combo is highly specific to the target sequence defined by the gRNA. It recognizes and cleaves DNA only at the specific target site

complementary to the gRNA sequence. Therefore, using a DNA sample where *Kazald3* gRNA was injected would act as a good control for checking the efficiency of *Kazald1* or *Kazald4* samples and so forth. However, after repeated experiments, some bands appeared that were not observed in earlier tests, as shown in Figure 6. Despite efforts, we were unable to eliminate these bands, suggesting that the change of PCR cycle of 30x to 35x could have resulted in the appearance of the bands. It is crucial to ensure proper experimental controls and optimization of PCR conditions to minimize non-specific amplification and ensure the reliability of the results.



Figure 8: PCR result of T7 Digestion

Gel results in Figure 8 portray T7 digestion results. Kazald3 and Kazald1 were successful while Kazald4 showed some extra bands not expected.

In Figure 8, the PCR results of the sample after T7 Digestion revealed key challenges. Firstly, the *Kazald1* (Lane 1G and 1A) exhibited two faint bands; but the presence of bands in the control complicated the interpretation of the two bands in the *Kazald1* sample. *Kazald4* results were beset with issues, necessitating further experiments for validation. Although *Kazald4* T7 Digest gel appeared to work in one lane (Lane 4B), multiple bands were present with this sample, along with extra bands in the *Kazald4* controls (Lane Kaz3G and Kaz1G) Following these observations, attempts were made to obtain a *Kazald4* PCR with a singular band, a process that extended over several months. While unable to eliminate the multiple bands, we concluded that the T7 digestion itself was successful, as the gel in Figure 9 below appeared as expected, with the T7 digested sample for *Kazald4* having two bands while the non-T7 sample had no cuttings. Conversely, *Kazald3* (Lane 3E) showed clear success in one lane, with controls exhibiting the expected outcome of no bands, indicating a successful Kazald gene sample with no issues or failures.

	4A 4A	48 48	4C 4C	40 40	4E 4E	89-92 Primers Kazald4
	Kaz3 Kaz3	Kazi Kazi		UIS UB	NF NF U	P UP
600 500 400 200 100	17 Non-T7	17 Non-17	17 Non-17	17_ Non-17	<u>17 Non-T7 1</u>	7 Non-17

Figure 9: Kazald4 T7 Digestion with gRNA

As depicted in Figure 9, the T7 lanes exhibited the presence of additional band on top of the two-band baseline in Kazald4 embryos, while the controls display a singular band without any splitting, aligning with the anticipated outcome.

HCR result



Figure 10: Kazald1 HCR Composite Imaging (Blastema 21 dpa)

The blue fluorescence depicts DAPI, the green color represents Kazald1, Kazald3 or Kazald4, red color represents PRRX1 and far red represents Kazald2.



Figure 11: Kazald3 HCR Composite Imaging (Blastema 21 dpa)

The blue fluorescence depicts DAPI, the green color represents Kazald1, Kazald3 or Kaald4, red color represents PRRX1 and far red represents Kazald2.





Figure 12: *Kazald*4 HCR Composite Imaging (Blastema 21 dpa)

The blue fluorescence depicts DAPI, the green color represents Kazald1, Kazald3 or Kaald4, red color represents PRRX1 and far red represents Kazald2.



Figure 13: *Kazald2* control

Red dots (far red) in the picture above represent Kazald2 control which states that the protocol itself worked and Kazald2 was a good control. The blue fluorescence depicts DAPI, the green color represents Kazald1, Kazald3 or Kaald4, red color represents PRRX1 and far red represents Kazald2.



Figure 14: *Kazald1* image with no hairpin

The above picture is an HCR image of Kazald1 without the hairpins which we used as a control. The blue fluorescence depicts DAPI, the green color represents Kazald1, Kazald3 or Kaald4, red color represents PRRX1 and far red represents Kazald2. The results are as expected as there are no dots suggesting that the protocol itself works. There is faint non-specific fluorescence. However, we want to see more fluorescence than this.



Figure 15: *Kazald3* image with no hairpin

The above picture is an HCR image of Kazald3 without the hairpins which we used as a control. The blue fluorescence depicts DAPI, the green color represents Kazald1, Kazald3 or Kaald4, red color represents PRRX1 and far red represents Kazald2. The results are as expected as there are no dots suggesting that the protocol itself works. There is faint non-specific fluorescence. However, we want to see more fluorescence than this.



Figure 16: *Kazald4* image with no hairpin

The above picture is an HCR image of Kazald4 without the hairpins which we used as a control. The blue fluorescence depicts DAPI, the green color represents Kazald1, Kazald3 or Kazald4, red color represents PRRX1 and far red represents Kazald2. The results are as expected as there are no dots suggesting that the protocol itself works. There is faint non-specific fluorescence. However, we want to see more fluorescence than this.

While using the HCR protocol to examine the expression patterns of the Kazald genes, we encountered challenges with the HCR probes employed. Our results did not show the anticipated depiction of green dots representing the gene of interest, suggesting potential difficulties with the HCR protocol or challenges specific to the gene under investigation. We expected to observe green, fluorescent signals indicating the presence of the targeted RNA molecules of *Kazald1*, *Kazald3*, and *Kazald4*. These signals typically appear as bright spots or dots against a dark background, providing insight into the RNA expression patterns of the target gene or RNA molecules within the sample telling us where and when the expression is active. However, we did not see any bright green spots as expected. While there were green dots their fluorescence intensity was not as expected and was attributed to autofluorescence. Utilizing *Kazald2* and *PRRX1* as controls revealed, as seen in Figure 13, that the other Kazald probes did not work consistently in our experiment. Instances of *Kazald2* and *PRRX1* probes not working also suggest the need for refining the precision required to perform the HCR experiment.

Statistics and reproducibility

In both studies, we determined the sample size based on practical considerations and experimental feasibility. We expected dichotomous results from our experiment, i.e., we either see the cuttings from T7 or we do not, and for the HCR experiment, we either see fluorescence or we do not. We calculated the number of animals needed per experiment, ten (10) animals per experiment ensuring that that the sample size was sufficient to achieve meaningful statistical analyses and draw reliable conclusions. In instances where direct comparisons of specific animal tissues were crucial, such as, when positive and negative controls were utilized for control purposes in the HCR experiment,

we ensured that tissues from the same animal were used for both the sample and the control. This approach aimed to maintain consistency and control in the experimental conditions, providing a reliable basis for meaningful comparisons within the study. Each experiment was independently conducted at least twice, unless specified otherwise, to ensure data reliability. It is worth noting that, in the interest of transparency, some experiments encountered occasional errors that were troubleshooted. If the HCR probes had worked, we would have needed more animals to evaluate upregulation in mutants. Despite these challenges, we diligently addressed and learned from any discrepancies, contributing to the overall rigor and integrity of the experimental process.

Chapter IV.

Discussion

In my CRISPR KO study, we emphasized several key findings and challenges encountered during our CRISPR KO experiment. Firstly, we optimized the CRPSIR-cas9 gene editing approach by assessing different primers designed for the gRNA targeting specific genes in axolotl embryos. Through careful experimentation and analysis, we observed the efficient functionality of the primers, evidenced by the presence of bright bands corresponding to the successful amplification of the targeted genes. We observed the presence of the band in the gel, matching the expected sizes of the PCR product for the targeted gene region. We utilized positive controls, such as wild-type DNA samples, and negative controls, such as DNA samples from unedited cells, to ensure that no bands were produced, confirming the absence of contamination or non-specific amplification, and validating the integrity of the PCR assay.

However, we faced a challenge where unexpected bands emerged between different rounds of injections and subsequent PCR analyses. Despite our extensive efforts to optimize the CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing approach, we observed these bands on the gel, distinct from the targeted gene region. They appeared inconsistently across multiple rounds of PCR, posing a considerable obstacle. To mitigate this issue, we employed optimization strategies such as elevating the PCR temperature. This discrepancy was attributed to changes in PCR cycle conditions or potential contamination in the samples used, highlighting the importance of rigorous quality control measures in experimental procedures.

Further analysis of PCR results after T7 digestion revealed additional challenges, particularly in the interpretation of band patterns. For example, the *Kazald1* sample exhibited multiple bands, albeit faint, complicated data interpretation. The *Kazald3* samples exhibited heavy off-target bands. Despite these challenges, we observed notable successes, especially in one lane of the *Kazald3* sample. However, issues with the *Kazald4* results necessitated further experimentation for validation. Overcoming these challenges demanded persistent efforts over several months to obtain PCR results with a singular band for *Kazald4*, underscoring the complexity and intricacies involved in gene editing experiments. Further investigations, including sequencing analyses and additional experimental validation, are warranted to elucidate the precise outcomes of the knockout attempts.

While successfully demonstrating the effectiveness of CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing in axolotl embryos targeting specific genes, we encountered challenges such as nonspecific amplification, unexpected results, and complexities in data interpretation. These challenges underscore the importance of careful optimization and implementation of quality control measures in experimental design and execution. The guides we designed effectively target all Kazald genes, laying the groundwork for future studies involving the generation of Kazald mutants and investigations into genome compensation, among other potential applications.

In my HCR experiment, targeting the Kazald genes- *Kazald*1, *Kazald*3, and *Kazald*4 with HCR, presented certain challenges, primarily related to the performance of the HCR probes employed. Despite expecting to observe green dots representing the gene of interest, our results did not reflect the expected expression patterns. This outcome

suggests that *Kazald1*, *Kazald3*, and *Kazald4*, may not be expressed sufficiently in the limb to be visualized with HCR.

One approach to validate the effectiveness of the involves utilizing *Kazald2* and *PRRX1* as controls. The functionality of *PRRX1* controls, which initially exhibited efficacy, ceased with the introduction of a new batch. This discrepancy may potentially arise from improper handling and storage of the *PRRX1* as a shared resource between multiple labs. However, consecutive verification using these controls revealed that the probes for the other Kazald genes failed to produce the expected results. While we endeavored to create probes with high specificity for the target genes, the expression of the gene was likely insufficient in the examined tissues. This further emphasizes the limitations encountered in the HCR experiment and suggests potential shortcomings in probe design or experimental executions.

The observed instances of Kazald2 and PRRX1 probes not functioning as expected also highlight mistakes made while performing the HCR experiment. Achieving reliable and reproducible results with HCR assays necessitates meticulously optimizing experimental conditions, including probe design, hybridization conditions, and imaging parameters. It is essential to also acknowledge that imaging techniques, especially in complex biological contexts, are easily influenced by various parameters such as autofluorescence, environmental factors, etc.

In conclusion, while the HCR protocol holds promise as a valuable tool for visualizing gene expression patterns, this study revealed challenges that warrant further investigation and improvement. Designing optimal probes for comprehensive targeting of the entire transcript poses challenges. Future investigation may benefit from sequencing

analyses to determine whether there is upregulation of these genes in *Kazald2* mutants. Furthermore, considering alternatives to HCR, such as RNAscope, which we have yet to explore, or traditional *in-situ* hybridization, could offer valuable insights and complement our research efforts.

Study Limitations

CRISPR experiment

During the experiment, I encountered multiple limitations that may have impacted its outcomes. Firstly, while it was ideal to inject cells at the single-cell stage, the timing of egg laying did not always align with optimal injection hours. Hence, sometimes the eggs were too old to inject rendering those eggs unusable for the experiment. Additionally, the axolotl's lengthy period to reach sexual maturity, spanning approximately a year, posed a challenge in conducting timely mating. Furthermore, not all eggs were viable, limiting the number of successful injections. These limitations highlight the inherent challenges of working with axolotls, emphasizing the necessity for careful planning in future studies to overcome these constraints. Given the absence of viable alternatives to injection, enhancing our injection techniques holds promise for improving survival rates and effectively addressing these challenges.

HCR experiment

The experiment encountered various limitations that might have impacted the reliability and interpretation of the results. Initially, there were concerns about whether the probe design could accurately detect RNA expression patterns, hinting at potential gaps or inaccuracies in the data regarding the gene's expression. However, the main issue seems to be its lack of sensitivity which refers to the inability of the probe design to detect low levels of RNA expression accurately. Moreover, there were challenges in preparing tissue samples for analysis, potentially introducing inconsistencies in the experimental results.

Furthermore, the presence of autofluorescence posed a challenge in accurately detecting fluorescence signals, complicating the interpretation of the results. Lastly, the lack of comprehensive knowledge about the function of the gene of interest limited the interpretation of experimental findings. These limitations highlight the need for prioritizing the refinement of the HCR protocol and probe design to enhance sensitivity and specificity. By improving these aspects, a more precise characterization of gene expression in axolotl tissue samples can be achieved in future studies.

Future research directions

The outcomes of our CRISPR-cas9 study will be helpful to subsequent research endeavors in laboratories focusing on axolotls, thereby facilitating a profound comprehension of Kazald *in vivo* functionalities. These findings will push research forward in understanding how changes in gene expression affect blastema formation and lead to differences in appearance when Kazald genes do not work correctly. It is crucial to understand how axolotls can fully regenerate.

As for my HCR results, given that HCR targets the entire transcript, the optimal design of new probes remains ambiguous. It is plausible that the observed limitation stems from insufficient gene expression levels for detection via HCR. Future avenues may involve sequencing analyses to ascertain whether these genes experience

upregulation in *Kazald2* mutants. Additionally, evaluating the efficacy of previously designed probes in alternate tissues exhibiting potentially heightened expression levels could offer valuable insights into probe design optimization.

References

- Ablain, J., & Zon, L. I. (2016). Tissue-specific gene targeting using CRISPR/Cas9. *Methods in Cell Biology*, 189–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mcb.2016.03.004</u>
- Access Prosthetics. (2019, March). 15 Limb Loss Statistics that May Surprise You Access Prosthetics. Access Prosthetics. <u>https://accessprosthetics.com/15-limb-loss-statistics-may-surprise/</u>
- Asmamaw, M., & Zawdie, B. (2021). Mechanism and Applications of CRISPR/Cas-9-Mediated Genome Editing. Biologics: Targets & Therapy, 15, 353–361. https://doi.org/10.2147/BTT.S326422
- Aziz, M. F., & Caetano-Anollés, G. (2021). Evolution of networks of protein domain organization. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 12075. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-90498-8</u>
- Tajer, B., Savage, A. M., & Whited, J. L. (2023). The salamander blastema within the broader context of metazoan regeneration. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2023.1206157
- Bi, S., Yue, S., & Zhang, S. (2017). Hybridization chain reaction: a versatile molecular tool for biosensing, bioimaging, and biomedicine. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 46(14), 4281–4298. https://doi.org/10.1039/C7CS00055C
- Borgens, R. (1982). Mice regrow the tips of their foretoes. *Science*, 217(4561), 747–750. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.7100922
- Bryant, D. M., Johnson, K., DiTommaso, T., Tickle, T., Couger, M. B., Payzin-Dogru, D., Lee, T. J., Leigh, N. D., Kuo, T.-H., Davis, F. G., Bateman, J., Bryant, S., Guzikowski, A. R., Tsai, S. L., Coyne, S., Ye, W. W., Freeman, R. M., Peshkin, L., Tabin, C. J., & Regev, A. (2017). A Tissue-Mapped Axolotl De Novo Transcriptome Enables the Identification of Limb Regeneration Factors. *Cell Reports*, *18*(3), 762–776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.063
- Center for Regenerative Biotherapeutics Neuroregeneration. (n.d.). Mayo Clinic. Retrieved March 14, 2023, from <u>https://www.mayo.edu/research/centers-</u> programs/center-regenerative-biotherapeutics/focusareas/neuroregeneration#:~:text=Ongoing%20research%20is%20using%20tissue %20engineering%20with%20biodegradable

- Chalkley, D. T. (1954). A quantitative histological analysis of forelimb regeneration in triturus viridescens. *Journal of Morphology*, 94(1), 21–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.1050940103</u>
- Chen, C.-H., & Poss, K. D. (2017). Regeneration Genetics. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 51(1), 63–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-120116-024554</u>
- *Comparison between Stem Cell and Progenitor Cell.* (n.d.). Www.clinmedjournals.org. <u>https://www.clinmedjournals.org/articles/ijscrt/ijscrt-5-053-table1.html</u>
- CRISPR technology is adapted to edit RNA. (2017, November 6). National Institutes of Health (NIH). <u>https://www.nih.gov/news-events/nih-research-matters/crispr-</u> technology-adapted-editrna#:~:text=Scientists%20recently%20discovered%20a%20promising%20DNA% 20editing%20system
- Davidson, E., & Levin, M. (2005). Gene regulatory networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 102(14), 4935–4935. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0502024102</u>
- Doudna, J. A., & Charpentier, E. (2014). The New Frontier of Genome Engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. Science, 346(6213), 1258096–1258096. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1258096
- Dunlap, G. (2018, January 12). *Regeneration: What the axolotl can teach us about regrowing human limbs.* Science in the News. <u>https://sitn.hms.harvard.edu/flash/2018/regeneration-axolotl-can-teach-us-regrowing-human-limbs/</u>
- Duygu Payzin-Dogru, Wilson, S. E., Blair, S. J., Erdogan, B., Hossain, S., Cammarata, L. V., Velazquez, J. C., Wong, A. Y., Losner, J., Min, S., Singer, H., & Whited, J. L. (2021). Adrenergic signaling stimulates body-wide stem cell activation for limb regeneration. *BioRxiv (Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory)*. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.12.29.474455
- Payzin-Dogru, D., & Whited, J. L. (2018). An integrative framework for salamander and mouse limb regeneration. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology*, 62(6-7-8), 393–402. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.180002jw
- El-Brolosy, M. A., & Stainier, D. Y. R. (2017). Genetic compensation: A phenomenon in search of mechanisms. *PLOS Genetics*, 13(7), e1006780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006780</u>
- El-Brolosy, M. A., Kontarakis, Z., Rossi, A., Kuenne, C., Günther, S., Fukuda, N., Kikhi, K., Boezio, G. L. M., Takacs, C. M., Lai, S.-L., Fukuda, R., Gerri, C., Giraldez, A. J., & Stainier, D. Y. R. (2019). Genetic compensation triggered by mutant mRNA degradation. *Nature*, 568(7751), 193–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1064-z</u>

- Evanko, D. (2004). Hybridization chain reaction. Nature Methods, 1(3), 186–186. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth1204-186a
- Farkas, J. E., & Monaghan, J. R. (2017). A brief history of the study of nerve-dependent regeneration. *Neurogenesis*, 4(1), e1302216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23262133.2017.1302216</u>
- Force, A., Lynch, M., Pickett, F. B., Amores, A., Yan, Y., & Postlethwait, J. (1999). Preservation of Duplicate Genes by Complementary, Degenerative Mutations. Genetics, 151(4), 1531–1545. https://doi.org/10.1093/genetics/151.4.1531
- Fei, J.-F., Schuez, M., Knapp, D., Taniguchi, Y., Drechsel, D. N., & Tanaka, E. M. (2017). Efficient gene knockin in axolotl and its use to test the role of satellite cells in limb regeneration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(47), 12501–12506. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1706855114
- Fei, J.-F., Schuez, M., Tazaki, A., Taniguchi, Y., Roensch, K., & Tanaka, Elly M. (2014). CRISPR-Mediated Genomic Deletion of Sox2 in the Axolotl Shows a Requirement in Spinal Cord Neural Stem Cell Amplification during Tail Regeneration. *Stem Cell Reports*, 3(3), 444–459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.06.018</u>
- Flowers, G. P., Timberlake, A. T., Mclean, K. C., Monaghan, J. R., & Crews, C. M. (2014). Highly efficient targeted mutagenesis in axolotl using Cas9 RNA-guided nuclease. *Development*, 141(10), 2165–2171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.105072</u>
- Godwin, J. W., & Brockes, J. P. (2006). Regeneration, tissue injury, and the immune response. Journal of Anatomy, 209(4), 423–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2006.00626.x</u>
- Godwin, J. W., Pinto, A. R., & Rosenthal, N. A. (2013). Macrophages are required for adult salamander limb regeneration. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(23), 9415–9420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1300290110</u>
- Hartwell, L., Goldberg, M. L., Fischer, J. A., & Hood, L. E. (2021). Genetics : from genes to genomes. Mcgraw Hill Education.
- HCRTM IF + HCRTM RNA-FISH | Molecular Instruments, Inc. (n.d.). MolecularInstruments. Retrieved February 7, 2024, from https://www.molecularinstruments.com/hcr-if-hcr-rnafish
- Heasman, J. (2002). Morpholino Oligos: Making Sense of Antisense? Developmental Biology, 243(2), 209–214. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006/dbio.2001.0565</u>
- Housden, B. E., Muhar, M., Gemberling, M., Gersbach, C. A., Stainier, D. Y. R., Seydoux, G., Mohr, S. E., Zuber, J., & Perrimon, N. (2017). Loss-of-function genetic tools for animal models: cross-species and cross-platform

differences. Nature Reviews. Genetics, 18(1), 24–40. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.118

- James, M. J., Järvinen, E., & Thesleff, I. (2004). Bono1: a gene associated with regions of deposition of bone and dentine. *Gene Expression Patterns*, 4(5), 595–599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.modgep.2004.01.013
- James, L. C., & Tawfik, D. S. (2003). Conformational diversity and protein evolution a 60-year-old hypothesis revisited. Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 28(7), 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0968-0004(03)00135-x
- Katari, R., Peloso, A., & Orlando, G. (2015). Tissue Engineering and Regenerative Medicine: Semantic Considerations for an Evolving Paradigm. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology*, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2014.00057</u>
- KAZALD1 Kazal type serine peptidase inhibitor domain 1 [Homo sapiens (human)] -Gene - NCBI. (n.d.). Www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov. Retrieved February 7, 2024, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene?Cmd=DetailsSearch&Term=81621
- KAZALD2 Kazal-type serine peptidase inhibitor domain 2 [Danio rerio (zebrafish)] -Gene - NCBI. (n.d.). Www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov. Retrieved March 14, 2023, from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gene/568748#:~:text=KAZALD2%20Kazal-</u> type%20serine%20peptidase%20inhibitor%20domain%202%20%5B
- Keinath, M. C., Voss, S. R., Tsonis, P. A., & Smith, J. J. (2017). A linkage map for the Newt Notophthalmus viridescens: Insights in vertebrate genome and chromosome evolution. *Developmental Biology*, 426(2), 211–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2016.05.027</u>
- Kõressaar, T., Lepamets, M., Kaplinski, L., Raime, K., Andreson, R., & Remm, M. (2018). Primer3_masker: Integrating masking of template sequence with Primer Design Software. *Bioinformatics*, 34(11), 1937–1938. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bty036
- Kragl, M., Knapp, D., Nacu, E., Khattak, S., Maden, M., Epperlein, H. H., & Tanaka, E. M. (2009). Cells keep a memory of their tissue origin during axolotl limb regeneration. *Nature*, 460(7251), 60–65. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08152
- Lander, Eric S. (2016). The Heroes of CRISPR. *Cell*, *164*(1-2), 18–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.12.041</u>
- Leigh, N. D., Dunlap, G. S., Johnson, K., Mariano, R., Oshiro, R., Wong, A. Y., Bryant, D. M., Miller, B. M., Ratner, A., Chen, A., Ye, W. W., Haas, B. J., & Whited, J. L. (2018). Transcriptomic landscape of the blastema niche in regenerating adult axolotl limbs at single-cell resolution. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 5153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07604-0</u>

- Maden, M. (1982). Vitamin A and pattern formation in the regenerating limb. *Nature*, 295(5851), 672–675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/295672a0</u>
- McCusker, C., Bryant, S. V., & Gardiner, D. M. (2015). The axolotl limb blastema: cellular and molecular mechanisms driving blastema formation and limb regeneration in tetrapods. *Regeneration*, 2(2), 54–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/reg2.32</u>
- Mizuno, S., Dinh, T. T. H., Kato, K., Mizuno-Iijima, S., Tanimoto, Y., Daitoku, Y., Hoshino, Y., Ikawa, M., Takahashi, S., Sugiyama, F., & Yagami, K. (2014). Simple generation of albino C57BL/6J mice with G291T mutation in the tyrosinase gene by the CRISPR/Cas9 system. Mammalian Genome: Official Journal of the International Mammalian Genome Society, 25(7-8), 327–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00335-014-9524-0</u>
- Monaghan, J. R., & Maden, M. (2012). Cellular Plasticity During Vertebrate Appendage Regeneration. Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology, 53–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/82_2012_288</u>
- Ohno, S. (1970). Evolution by gene duplication. Springer.

Ohta, T. (1989). Role of gene duplication in evolution. *Genome*, *31*(1), 304–310. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/g89-048</u>

- Ossanna, R., Veronese, S., Quintero Sierra, L. A., Conti, A., Conti, G., & Sbarbati, A. (2023). Multilineage-differentiating stress-enduring cells (muse cells): An easily accessible, pluripotent stem cell niche with unique and powerful properties for multiple Regenerative Medicine Applications. *Biomedicines*, 11(6), 1587. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11061587
- Peng, J. (2019). Gene redundancy and gene compensation: An updated view. Journal of Genetics and Genomics, 46(7), 329–333. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgg.2019.07.001</u>
- PICCIOTTO, M. R., & WICKMAN, K. (1998). Using Knockout and Transgenic Mice to Study Neurophysiology and Behavior. *Physiological Reviews*, 78(4), 1131–1163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1998.78.4.1131</u>
- Rastogi, S., & Liberles, D. A. (2005). Subfunctionalization of duplicated genes as a transition state to neofunctionalization. BMC Evolutionary Biology, 5, 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-5-28
- Rasul, M. F., Hussen, B. M., Salihi, A., Ismael, B. S., Jalal, P. J., Zanichelli, A., Jamali, E., Baniahmad, A., Ghafouri-Fard, S., Basiri, A., & Taheri, M. (2022). Strategies to overcome the main challenges of the use of CRISPR/Cas9 as a replacement for cancer therapy. *Molecular Cancer*, 21(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-021-01487-4</u>

- *Regeneration*. (n.d.). Www.nigms.nih.gov. <u>https://www.nigms.nih.gov/education/fact-sheets/Pages/regeneration.aspx</u>
- Rodgers, K., & McVey, M. (2015). Error-Prone Repair of DNA Double-Strand Breaks. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 231(1), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.25053
- Rossi, A., Kontarakis, Z., Gerri, C., Nolte, H., Hölper, S., Krüger, M., & Stainier, D. Y. R. (2015). Genetic compensation induced by deleterious mutations but not gene knockdowns. *Nature*, 524(7564), 230–233. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14580</u>
- Rouf, M. A., Wen, L., Mahendra, Y., Wang, J., Zhang, K., Liang, S., Wang, Y., Li, Z., Wang, Y., & Wang, G. (2022). The recent advances and future perspectives of genetic compensation studies in the zebrafish model. *Genes & Diseases*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2021.12.003
- Sanor, L. D., Flowers, G. P., & Crews, C. M. (2020). Multiplex CRISPR/Cas screen in regenerating haploid limbs of chimeric Axolotls. *ELife*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.48511</u>
- Schloissnig, S., Kawaguchi, A., Nowoshilow, S., Falcon, F., Otsuki, L., Tardivo, P., Timoshevskaya, N., Keinath, M. C., Smith, J. J., Voss, S. R., & Tanaka, E. M. (2021). The giant axolotl genome uncovers the evolution, scaling, and transcriptional control of complex gene loci. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(15), e2017176118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017176118</u>
- Seifert, A. W., & Muneoka, K. (2018). The blastema and epimorphic regeneration in mammals. *Developmental Biology*, 433(2), 190–199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2017.08.007</u>
- Simkin, J., Sammarco, M. C., Dawson, L. A., Schanes, P. P., Yu, L., & Muneoka, K. (2015). The mammalian blastema: regeneration at our fingertips. *Regeneration*, 2(3), 93–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/reg2.36</u>
- Smith, J. J., Timoshevskaya, N., Timoshevskiy, V. A., Keinath, M. C., Hardy, D., & Voss, S. R. (2019). A chromosome-scale assembly of the axolotl genome. *Genome Research*, 29(2), 317–324. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.241901.118
- Stemmer, M., Thumberger, T., del Sol Keyer, M., Wittbrodt, J., & Mateo, J. L. (2017). Correction: CCTop: An Intuitive, Flexible and Reliable CRISPR/Cas9 Target Prediction Tool. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(4), e0176619. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176619</u>
- Stocum, D. L. (2017). Mechanisms of urodele limb regeneration. *Regeneration*, 4(4), 159–200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/reg2.92</u>

- T7 Endonuclease I-based Mutation Detection with the EnGen® Mutation Detection Kit (NEB #E3321) / NEB. (n.d.). Www.neb.com. Retrieved March 14, 2023, from <u>https://www.neb.com/protocols/2016/03/17/t7-endonuclease-i-mutation-detection-with-the-engen-mutation-detection-kit-e3321</u>
- Tan, K., Stupack, D. G., & Wilkinson, M. (2022). Nonsense-mediated RNA decay: an emerging modulator of malignancy. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 22(8), 437–451. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41568-022-00481-2
- Tautz, D. (1992). Problems and paradigms: Redundancies, development, and the flow of information. *BioEssays*, 14(4), 263–266. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.950140410
- The Amazing Axolotl: A Valuable Model for Regenerative Medicine / Office of Research Infrastructure Programs (ORIP) – DPCPSI – NIH. (n.d.). Orip.nih.gov. <u>https://orip.nih.gov/about-orip/research-highlights/amazing-axolotl-valuable-model-regenerative-medicine</u>
- Tilkorn, D. J., Lokmic, Z., Chaffer, C. L., Mitchell, G. M., Morrison, W. A., & Thompson, E. W. (2010). Disparate Companions: Tissue Engineering Meets Cancer Research. *Cells Tissues Organs*, 192(3), 141–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000308892</u>
- Wang, W., Hu, C.-K., Zeng, A., Alegre, D., Hu, D., Gotting, K., Ortega Granillo, A.,
 Wang, Y., Robb, S., Schnittker, R., Zhang, S., Alegre, D., Li, H., Ross, E., Zhang,
 N., Brunet, A., & Sánchez Alvarado, A. (2020). Changes in regenerationresponsive enhancers shape regenerative capacities in
 vertebrates. Science, 369(6508), eaaz3090.
 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaz3090
- Wagner, A. (1996). Genetic redundancy caused by gene duplications and its evolution in networks of transcriptional regulators. *Biological Cybernetics*, 74(6), 557–567. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00209427</u>
- Yun, M. H., Davaapil, H., & Brockes, J. P. (2015). Recurrent turnover of senescent cells during regeneration of a complex structure. *ELife*, 4. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.05505</u>
- Zaboikin, M., Zaboikina, T., Freter, C., & Srinivasakumar, N. (2017). Non-Homologous End Joining and Homology Directed DNA Repair Frequency of Double-Stranded Breaks Introduced by Genome Editing Reagents. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(1), e0169931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0169931</u>
- Zakrzewski, W., Dobrzyński, M., Szymonowicz, M., & Rybak, Z. (2019). Stem cells: past, present, and Future. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, *10*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-019-1165-5</u>
- Zech, Nicolas. (2004). Adult Stem Cell Manipulation and Possible Clinical Perspectives. Journal fur Reproduktionsmedizin und Endokrinologie.